Journal of Environmental Management 196 (2017) 594-606

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Environmental Management

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jenvman



LSEVIER

Review

Dynamic models in research and management of biological invasions



Ana Buchadas ^{a, *}, Ana Sofia Vaz ^a, João P. Honrado ^a, Diogo Alagador ^b, Rita Bastos ^c, João A. Cabral ^c, Mário Santos ^c, Joana R. Vicente ^{a, c}

^a InBIO-CIBIO - Rede de Investigação em Biodiversidade e Biologia Evolutiva, Centro de Investigação em Biodiversidade e Recursos Genéticos, Faculdade de Ciências da Universidade do Porto, Campus Agrário de Vairão, Rua Padre Armando Quintas, nº 7, 4485-661 Vairão, Portugal ^b InBio-CIBIO, Rede de Investigação em Biodiversidade e Biologia Evolutiva, Centro de Investigação em Biodiversidade e Recursos Genéticos, Universidade de Évora, 7000-890 Évora, Portugal

^c Laboratory of Applied Ecology, CITAB - Centre for the Research and Technology of Agro-Environment and Biological Sciences, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, 5000-911 Vila Real, Portugal

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 29 June 2016 Received in revised form 10 March 2017 Accepted 19 March 2017

Keywords: Hybrid models Management Non-native species Scientometrics Spatial-temporal dynamics Static models

ABSTRACT

Invasive species are increasing in number, extent and impact worldwide. Effective invasion management has thus become a core socio-ecological challenge. To tackle this challenge, integrating spatial-temporal dynamics of invasion processes with modelling approaches is a promising approach. The inclusion of dynamic processes in such modelling frameworks (i.e. dynamic or hybrid models, here defined as models that integrate both dynamic and static approaches) adds an explicit temporal dimension to the study and management of invasions, enabling the prediction of invasions and optimisation of multi-scale management and governance. However, the extent to which dynamic approaches have been used for that purpose is under-investigated. Based on a literature review, we examined the extent to which dynamic modelling has been used to address invasions worldwide. We then evaluated how the use of dynamic modelling has evolved through time in the scope of invasive species management. The results suggest that modelling, in particular dynamic modelling, has been increasingly applied to biological invasions, especially to support management decisions at local scales. Also, the combination of dynamic and static modelling approaches (hybrid models with a spatially explicit output) can be especially effective, not only to support management at early invasion stages (from prevention to early detection), but also to improve the monitoring of invasion processes and impact assessment. Further development and testing of such hybrid models may well be regarded as a priority for future research aiming to improve the management of invasions across scales.

© 2017 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	595
2.	Analytical framework	596
	2.1. Overview	. 596
	2.2. Literature search	. 596
	2.3. Literature review and statistical analyses	. 597
3.	An historical perspective of published dynamic invasion models	598
4.	Trends in the modelling of biological invasions for management	599
	4.1. Taxonomic and geographic focus	. 599
	4.2. Modelling approaches in invasive species management	. 599
5.	Further enhancing invasion modelling for research and management	601

* Corresponding author.

E-mail addresses: anarcbuchadas@gmail.com (A. Buchadas), asofia.vaz@fc.up.pt (A.S. Vaz), jhonrado@fc.up.pt (J.P. Honrado), alagador@uevora.pt (D. Alagador), ritabastos@utad.pt (R. Bastos), jcabral@utad.pt (J.A. Cabral), mgsantoss@gmail.com (M. Santos), jsvicente@fc.up.pt (J.R. Vicente).

6.	Conclusions
	Acknowledgments
	Supplementary data
	References

1. Introduction

Invasive non-native species (hereafter "invasive species") are increasing in number and extent worldwide (Pyšek and Richardson, 2010), constituting a phenomenon that may implicate important ecological, economic and social impacts (Fei et al., 2014; Pyšek and Richardson, 2010; Simberloff et al., 2013; Tassin and Kull, 2015). Invasive species can alter the structure and functioning of ecosystems (Gaertner et al., 2014; Pyšek and Richardson, 2010), with consequences for native biodiversity and for ecosystem services (Gaertner et al., 2014: Theoharides and Dukes, 2007: Vaz et al., 2017a). The need to tackle invasions and their impacts has fostered an increasing commitment of researchers and practitioners in the management of invaded ecosystems (Estevez et al., 2015; Rotherham and Lambert, 2012). The development of predictive tools to enable knowledge-based decision-making has become fundamental for the effective management of invasive species (Ameden et al., 2009; Vicente et al., 2016, 2013). In recent years, ecological models have improved our understanding of the key drivers, processes and impacts of invasions (Neubert and Caswell, 2000; Vicente et al., 2010). These models have also allowed us to predict potential areas of invasive species distribution and to forecast possible impacts under different socio-ecological scenarios (Peterson et al., 2008; Vicente et al., 2016).

More broadly, ecological modelling has promoted advances in many socio-environmental issues, such as eutrophication and its mitigation (e.g. Alvera-Azcárate et al., 2003), climate change impacts (e.g. Vicente et al., 2013), pollution effects (e.g. Hinojosa et al., 2008), land management (e.g. Miller and Urban, 2000), or ecological monitoring (e.g. Amorim et al., 2014; Carvalho et al., 2016; Vicente et al., 2016). When properly designed, parametrised and calibrated, ecological models can effectively simulate conditions and processes that might be difficult or even impossible to understand otherwise (Jørgensen and Fath, 2011). Efforts to describe and accurately predict the behaviour of a wide range of (socio-) ecological systems have fostered the development of several modelling approaches suiting particular goals (Jørgensen and Bendoricchio, 2001). Among the many dichotomies used to classify modelling approaches (e.g. Reductionist/Holistic; Deterministic/Stochastic; Linear/Nonlinear), two major types of ecological models can be recognised, differing in their capacity to describe and analyse the nature of processes by which a phenomenon is created: static models and dynamic models (Hannon and Ruth, 2014).

Static models can be defined as models that represent a phenomenon at a given point in time or that compare the phenomenon at different points in time (i.e. comparative static models; Hannon and Ruth, 2014). A widely applied type of static models is habitat suitability models (HSMs), which are statistical-based phenomenological screening tools (Gallien et al., 2010) that associate a given response variable (e.g. the occurrence of a species) with environmental variables or predictors (e.g. temperature, precipitation; Franklin, 2010; Guisan and Thuiller, 2005). These models have been commonly used in invasion ecology, for example to predict current and future potential distributions of invasive species (e.g. Peterson et al., 2003; Vicente et al., 2010, 2013). However, static models are limited by the lack of information on local dynamics, processes and interactions that characterize invasion processes as complex phenomena (Gallien et al., 2010). In fact, predicting future range dynamics can be particularly challenging, as invasive species are usually recent arrivals whose distribution is still not in equilibrium with the new environmental conditions (Rouget et al., 2004).

Dynamic models are based on ecological processes (e.g. processbased models), and differ from static models by explicitly incorporating time-dependent changes in the state of a system (Hannon and Ruth, 2014). These models include, among others, biogeochemical dynamics models (e.g. Soetaert et al., 2000), population dynamics models (e.g. Kriticos et al., 2003), individual-based models (IBMs; e.g. Nehrbass and Winkler, 2007), and cellular automata systems (e.g. Crespo-Perez et al., 2011). Examples of dynamic modelling approaches can be traced back to the classical Lotka-Volterra models in the 1920s, to models of population dynamics in the 1950s, and to eutrophication models during the 1960s. More recently, spatially explicit IBMs and cellular automata have seen their growth in the late 2000s and 2010s (Chen et al., 2011; Jørgensen, 1994, 2008; Jørgensen and Fath, 2011).

Dynamic models can overcome several limitations of static models, since they can extrapolate beyond known conditions and be implemented under multifactorial management scenarios (Cuddington et al., 2013). In fact, the utility of dynamic models for conservation planning and management has been profusely highlighted (e.g. Cuddington et al., 2013; Franklin, 2010; Richardson and Whittaker, 2010; Thuiller et al., 2008). They have also been recognised as the most appropriate type of models to guide management decisions (Cuddington et al., 2013). Nevertheless, the application of dynamic modelling in the scope of invasions requires a deep understanding of the spatial-temporal dynamics of invasion processes (Gallien et al., 2010). Detailed information is required on the characteristics of invasive species (i.e. invasiveness traits; Gallien et al., 2010; Guisan and Zimmermann, 2000), on the features of areas under invasion (i.e. their invasibility: Gallien et al., 2010) and on the socio-environmental variables that may influence a given invasion process (Gallien et al., 2010).

In this context, there has been an increasing interest in hybrid models, specifically frameworks coupling dynamic and static models (e.g. Brook et al., 2009; Richardson et al., 2010; Santos and Cabral, 2004; Zurell et al., 2016). Hybrid models combine the predictive accuracy and low data requirements of static models with the ability of dynamic models to describe underlying processes (Franklin, 2010; Gallien et al., 2010). A hybrid approach can be illustrated by the integration of HSMs and process-based models for the management of invasive species. For instance, Meier et al. (2014) coupled HSMs and population spread models to analyse the effectiveness of invasive species control actions under alternative cost scenarios and different management goals. Richardson et al. (2010) defined regions of high risk of invasion by coupling a cellular automata model with HSMs.

Albeit the former examples, the extent to which dynamic and hybrid models have been applied in the study and management of biological invasions is still under-investigated. A detailed analysis of the contexts and motivations under which those models have been applied, as well as of the insights obtained from their application, could pave the way for further development and testing. Therefore, we performed an extensive literature review to analyse the extent and the goals under which dynamic modelling has been applied for the analysis and management of biological invasions. We conducted a comprehensive review of published literature applying dynamic modelling approaches in the study of invasions and/or in the management of invasive species. Two major goals (G) were established, and four hypotheses (H) were tested:

G1 — To examine the extent to which dynamic ecological modelling has been used to address biological invasions worldwide. To do so, we tested the following hypotheses:

H1.1. Dynamic modelling has been increasingly used for biological invasion studies; and

H1.2. Dynamic modelling has been increasingly used for studies on management of biological invasions.

G2 — To understand how dynamic modelling has evolved through time regarding management strategies targeting biological invasions. To assess this goal, we tested the following hypotheses:

H2.1. The incidence of the research changed geographically and taxonomically over time; and

H2.2. The application of dynamic modelling in the assistance of invasive species management has transitioned over time, particularly from purely dynamic to static-dynamic hybrid models.

2. Analytical framework

2.1. Overview

We applied an analytical framework grounded on standard protocols for literature reviews (Higgins and Green, 2011), to trace a historical overview and identify current patterns of incidence of dynamic modelling in invasion literature. We gave particular focus to invasion management, for which dynamic models can be especially useful (Cuddington et al., 2013). The framework was organised around the aforementioned goals (G1, G2) and hypotheses (H1.1 and H1.2 for G1; H2.1 and H2.2 for G2; see Fig. 1, Table 1). Further details on the rationale for each hypothesis are provided in Appendix S1.

The analytical framework started with a literature search, which included the selection of keywords and search engines, an evaluation of the reliability of the search, and the application of exclusion and inclusion criteria. A literature review was then conducted to classify the records retrieved during the search, and to extract the relevant information for testing our hypotheses (Fig. 1).

2.2. Literature search

Literature searches are grounded on the use of keywords and specific search engines; therefore, a good selection of keywords is crucial for achieving a representative screening of pertinent publications (Higgins and Green, 2011). For this review, keyword selection followed a Population-Intervention-Comparison-Outcome (PICO) strategy, in which "invasive species" was defined as Population, "dynamic modelling" as Intervention, and "management" as Outcome. The selection was based on a review of previous keywords from a list of reference papers, and under a participatory approach with a team of researchers specialised in modelling and managing invasive species (Fig. 1). The final list of keywords included the most common and unambiguous words to reach the largest number of publications on the subject (see Appendix S2 for keyword selection and literature search protocol, and Appendix S3 for the final list of keywords).

The time span of the search was 1900–2014. Searches were carried out from October to November 2015, and were updated in March and April 2016. To address G1, ISI Web of Science (ISI WOS; http://webofknowledge.com/) was used, since it offers the widest coverage of published scientific literature through time (Falagas et al., 2008). To address G2, we additionally used the search



Fig. 1. The analytical workflow. The Literature search comprised hierarchical searches grounded on keywords expressing Invasive species (Population), Modelling (Intervention), and Management (Outcome) in ISI Web of Science (ISI WOS) for Goal 1 (G1); and in ISI WOS, Scopus and Science direct for Goal 2 (G2). The Reliability evaluation was the process by which the comprehensiveness of the search was assessed, through comparison with a search in Google Scholar. Records from the combined search (G2) were then submitted to inclusion/exclusion criteria (see Appendix 54), in which irrelevant records were removed from the database. The Literature review focused on records from the final database which were individually reviewed and classified according to seven categories, related to the sub-hypotheses under Goal 2 (see also Table 1).

Table 1

Goals of the study, hypotheses and sub-hypotheses with related categories and classes used in the literature review, and their respective motivations.

Hypotheses	Sub-hypotheses	Categories	Classes	Motivations						
Goal 1. To examine the extent to which dynamic ecological modelling has been used to address biological invasions worldwide										
H 1.1: Dynamic modelling has been increasingly used for biological invasion studies	-	-	-	To assess how dynamic modelling has been applied in invasion research and in invasion management						
H 1.2: Dynamic modelling has been increasingly used for studies on management of biological invasions	-	-	-							
Goal 2. To understand how	Goal 2. To understand how dynamic modelling has evolved through time regarding management strategies targeting biological invasions									
H 2.1: The incidence of the research changed geographically and taxonomically over time	H2.1.1: From taxonomic groups with well-known impacts to a more general species selection H 2.1.2: From continents with a longer history of research in invasion biology to more general	Taxonomical focus: What is the taxonomical group of focus? Geographical focus: What is the targeted study area?	Plant, Invertebrate, Vertebrate, Other, Not specified Global, Europe, South America, North America, Africa, Asia, Oceania,	To assess how dynamic modelling has been targeting invasibility (considering where the invasion is taking place) and invasiveness (considering the						
	H 2.1.3: From local and regional extent to global studies	Spatial extent: What is the spatial scale of the study?	Global (multiple continents), Regional (within one continent but in multiple countries), Local (within one country), No reference	taxonomical group that is invading)						
H 2.2: The application of dynamic modelling in the assistance of invasive species management has transitioned over time	 H 2.2.1: From a uniquely dynamic model to application of hybrid models, combined with static species modelling H 2.2.2: From a no cost evaluation to a cost evaluation of management options 	Modelling framework: Is the modelling approach a combination of dynamic approach with a species static model? Model spatially explicit: Is the modelling approach spatially explicit?	Not combined with a species static model, Combined with a species static model Yes, No	To assess the main characteristics of dynamic modelling applied in the management of invasive species						
	H 2.2.3: Between the chosen types of management options	Management type: What management options and type, if passive (P) or active (A), were considered? (Passive management referred to preventive actions, and active management indicated direct or indirect actions applied to invasive species post establishment.)	Risk assessment (P), Preventing (P), Monitoring (P). Control (A), Biological control (A), Eradication (A), Containment (A), Mitigation (A), Restoration (A), Other, No reference							
	H 2.2.4: From not spatially explicit to spatially explicit modelling approaches	Cost evaluation: Was a management cost evaluation done?	Yes, No							

engines Scopus (https://www.scopus.com/) and Science Direct (http://www.sciencedirect.com/), besides ISI WOS, to obtain a broader coverage of currently published literature (Higgins and Green, 2011). Records retrieved for G2 were combined after eliminating duplicates (total number of records, n = 1849), using EndNote ×7.4 (Thomson Reuters, 2013).

To evaluate the reliability of the search, the first 50 records retrieved by Google Scholar (using the main keywords "invasive species" AND "model" AND "dynamic" AND "management") were compared to the combined database (Fig. 1; following Higgins and Green, 2011). Records on the topic from Google Scholar that were absent from the combined database (corresponding to 3 out of 22 relevant retrieved records) were added to the database (total n = 1852 records; Fig. 1). This former set of records was then subjected to exclusion/inclusion criteria to maintain suitable records and eliminate unsuitable ones from the final database (e.g. records on topics such as aliens/invaders from outer space; see Appendix S4 for details). Inclusion/exclusion criteria were applied by individually examining first the title, keywords and abstract of each record, and then the full text of the record (Fig. 1). Two reviewers applied the inclusion/exclusion criteria. The consistency of classification results was assessed through kappa statistics on 10% of randomly chosen records, resulting in a good consistency (kappa = 0.8; see Higgins and Green, 2011 for details).

2.3. Literature review and statistical analyses

The full text of each individual record from the final database (n = 369) was reviewed to classify each record according to the categories (and classes) shown in Table 1. To test our goals and hypotheses, we performed descriptive and multivariate analyses. Descriptive statistics were used to assess the temporal trends of published records. For the outcomes of the *Literature search* (Fig. 1, G1), the total number of published records per year for each step of the literature search was represented using area plots. The proportion of records of each step in relation to the total number of published records per year was also plotted as smoothing curves showing averages for 2-year time periods, between 1904 (first record retrieved by our search) and 2014 (see section 3 "An historical perspective of published invasion research"). For the outcomes of the Literature review (Fig. 1, G2), the total number of records per year for each classification was represented through line plots with smoothing curves (averages for 2-year periods), for the time frame between 1987 (first record retrieved by our search) and 2014 (see sections 4.1 "Taxonomic and geographic focus" and 4.2 "Modelling approaches in invasive species management"). The proportion of records of each classification in relation to the total number of published records per year was represented as column plots. For ease of readability, records classified as "no reference" or "not specified" (see Table 1) were not exhibited.

Subsequently, multivariate analysis was employed to visualise the similarities between our variables: the classifications derived from our Literature review (G2 - H2.2, Table 1). Principal Component Analysis (PCA) was applied to the categories "cost evaluation", "type of management", "spatially explicit nature" and "modelling framework" (see Fig. 1). PCA is a statistical procedure that displays the pattern of similarity of observations and variables. The PCA extracted information from the classification matrix of our record database, described by our inter-correlated variables, converting it into linearly uncorrelated, orthogonal, variables called principal components. This method projects the distance between objects in a reduced space, by simplifying the description of our database, thereby expressing the maximum variance captured in the database, while enabling the visualization of patterns of similarity between variables as points in a map (see Abdi and Williams, 2010; Legendre and Legendre, 1998 for details on PCA). To obtain the PCA, the classification matrix was first created by classifying a record as 1, if verified, and 0, if not verified, for each variable. To illustrate, for the variable "No Cost", a value of 1 was assigned to those records that did not evaluate the cost of management, whereas a value of 0 was assigned to those that evaluated the cost of management. Then, the statistical reduction of the classification matrix was obtained by computing the first two principal components of the PCA, as they covered most of the variance in the database (68%). Finally, a projection of variables in the PCA biplot was presented to illustrate similarities between variables. All statistical procedures were conducted using Statistica v13 (StatCorp, 2013).

3. An historical perspective of published dynamic invasion models

The number of records including keywords related to "invasive species" (see Appendix S3) retrieved by ISI WOS was 27,429 (Step 1; see Fig. 1). From these, 7248 records also included "modelling" related keywords; 2395 further included "dynamic modelling" keywords; and 1277 records also included keywords related to "management".

Biological invasions are a relatively recent topic in science, only established as a discipline after the middle of the XX century, following the publication of The Ecology of Invasions by Animals and Plants, by Charles Elton (1958) (Richardson and Pyšek, 2008; Simberloff, 2010). An increase in the number of records with invasive species keywords was observed, as expected, with a rapid increase occurring after 1990 (Fig. 2). We note, however, that this growth relies on the assumption that keywords directly reflect the subject of studies (from now on this assumption underlies our discussion). The growth of scientific focus on biological invasions since the early 1990s has already been suggested by several studies (Davis, 2006; Lockwood et al., 2013; Lowry et al., 2013; Macisaac et al., 2010; Ricciardi and MacIsaac, 2008; Simberloff, 2010; Vaz et al., 2017b). It has been associated with the 1982 SCOPE program (Davis, 2006; Simberloff, 2010), in which biological invasions became a key issue to academics and stakeholders focused on the conservation, environmental and socio-economic implications of invasions (Hobbs and Richardson, 2010; Humair et al., 2015; McNeely, 2001). Moreover, this rising concern resulted in a growing availability of invasion data, allowing for more quantitative analyses and for predictive modelling to become a hallmark in the field of invasions (Ricciardi and MacIsaac, 2008; Simberloff, 2010).

The increase in records focused on invasive species modelling was also mostly observed since the 1990s. Nevertheless, the application of modelling techniques to invasive species can be traced back to the early XX century, with Cooks' research on predicting habitat suitability (e.g. Cook, 1924; see Sutherst, 2014), or to the 1950s, with Skellam's research on the application of dynamic modelling (Skellam, 1951). However, (dynamic) modelling of invasive species only became more frequent since the late 1990s (Fig. 2), in agreement with results from other assessments focused on modelling literature. For instance, Jørgensen (2008) showed that the number of modelling papers published from 2001 to 2006 was about nine times the number of papers published from 1975 to 1980. This increase in modelling literature over the last decades may be attributed to developments in computer technology and advances in the general knowledge about invasions, with the accumulation of relevant databases (Davis, 2006; Jørgensen and Fath, 2011; Simberloff, 2010).

Similar trends were perceived for records dealing with dynamic modelling of invasions in general, and specifically with invasion management. These results support our hypotheses H1.1 (i.e. dynamic modelling has been increasingly used for biological invasion studies) and H1.2 (i.e. dynamic modelling has been increasingly used for studies on management of biological invasion; Fig. 2). Dynamic models represented roughly one third of the modelling records focused on invasive species, and about half of these were designed for management purposes (see Fig. 2).

More broadly, the application of dynamic modelling techniques prevailed in the early stages of ecological modelling. According to Jørgensen (2008), from 1975 to 1980, studies with dynamic models represented more than 90% of the publications in ecological modelling. From 2001 to 2006, studies on system dynamics modelling still comprised more than half of the modelling publications, with new approaches growing such as static biogeochemical and bioenergetics, individual based models, cellular automata, and spatially explicit models. During that period, static approaches represented no more than 15% of modelling studies (Jørgensen, 2008).

This focus on dynamic modelling for applications in invasion management may be explained by an increasing pressure to manage invasions and mitigate their impacts. This is demonstrated in several initiatives such as the European Environment Agency (1998) report on invasive species, the Clinton administration's (1999) directives to prevent and control alien invasive species, the National Research Council (2002) report on the Scientific basis for predicting the invasive potential of nonindigenous plant and plant pests, in the USA, or the IUCN "Guidelines for the prevention of biodiversity loss caused by alien invasive species" (2000) (see Davis, 2006). Further, Shigesada and Kawasaki (1997) book on "Biological invasions: theory and practice" may be symptomatic of the increasing focus on dynamic modelling in invasive species management in the late 1990s (Davis, 2006). This book reviewed mathematical modelling applications in invasion ecology, resulting from an increased demand to understand and predict invasive species distributions.

The growing need to tackle invasions, and the many institutional incentives to do so, may have fostered further application of dynamic modelling in the management of invasions. The Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (2005) highlighted the threats posed by invasive species on biodiversity, ecosystem services and human well-being across biomes. The World Organization for Animal Health and the International Plant Protection Convention both stressed management priorities for non-native species (Keller et al., 2011), as did other institutions and initiatives (e.g. see Shine et al., 2010 for a review on former EU policy to combat invasive species). Throughout this process of growing awareness and knowledge production, the need to incorporate dynamic modelling to support decision-making for invasion management has been repeatedly emphasised (Cuddington et al., 2013; Gallien et al., 2010; Hulme, 2006).



Fig. 2. The number of records retrieved by the search (in ISI Web of Science) on invasive species modelling, dynamic modelling, and management, from 1904 to 2014 (smoothing curves showing averages for 2-year time periods; on the right y-axis). The figure also illustrates the proportions of modelling records within invasion studies, of dynamic modelling records within modelling invasive species studies, and of management records within dynamic modelling of invasive species (on the left y-axis). Time periods highlighted in light grey are discussed in more detail throughout the text. Gaps in the x-axis represent time periods for which no records were retrieved.

4. Trends in the modelling of biological invasions for management

4.1. Taxonomic and geographic focus

Invasive species comprise several taxonomic groups and occur in most regions of the world (Pyšek et al., 2008). From the total set of records considered in our literature search (Fig. 1; n = 1849), 20% (369 records) were considered suitable for our literature review (Appendix S5). In the latter, plants were the most prevalent taxonomic group (44.27%), followed by invertebrates (32.80%) and vertebrates (18.15%), with other taxa representing the remaining 4.78% records. This focus on plants and invertebrates was observed in almost every year of the focal period (1997–2014; Fig. 3a). The earliest record on modelling for invasion management was from 1997 and focused on the plant Acacia saligna (wattle; Higgins et al., 1997). In 1998, several invertebrates and vertebrates were targeted for the first time in published management models. Examples from our dataset included studies on Lymantria dispar (gypsy moth; Sharov and Liebhold, 1998; Sharov et al., 1998), Dreissena polymorpha (zebra mussel; Schneider et al., 1998) and Bufo marinus (cane toad; Lampo and De Leo, 1998). Since the 2000s, further studies were published focusing on invasive arthropods, such as Procambarus clarkii (red swamp crayfish; Marchi et al., 2011), one of the most problematic invasive crustaceans worldwide. Other taxa were only mentioned from 2005 onwards, with an emphasis on phytoplankton modelling studies (Petrovskii et al., 2005).

Geographically, the set of reviewed records comprised studies conducted in different parts of the world (Fig. 3b), although North America was by far the most represented continent (46.57%), followed by Europe (19.86%), Oceania (19.49%), and finally by other continents (11.19%). Studies involving multiple continents were scarce, representing only 2.89% of all records. The earliest study found in the literature search was conducted in South Africa, in 1997 (Higgins et al., 1997). North America and Oceania were first mentioned in 1998 (e.g. Edwards et al., 1998; Lampo and De Leo, 1998), and Europe in 2000 (Wadsworth et al., 2000). The first study covering more than one continent was published in 2004 (Morrison et al., 2004), and since then more continents were simultaneously targeted by modelling studies (Fig. 3b). Regarding the spatial extent, our set of records was clearly dominated by local studies (86.6%), whereas the regional (12.7%) and global (0.7%) scales represented only a small fraction of the records (Fig. 3c). These results support our hypothesis H2.1, that the geographical and taxonomical focus of the dynamic modelling studies changed through time.

Most records were centred on plants and insects, and were conducted in developed regions (Fig. 3). This is consistent with previous studies that showed a biased focus on invasion ecology and more broadly in ecological research (Dana et al., 2014; Kueffer et al., 2013; Martin et al., 2012; Pyšek et al., 2008; Ruiz et al., 2000; Wilson et al., 2007). Pyšek et al. (2008) had already suggested that plants and insects were the most represented taxa in invasion research (together accounting for almost two-thirds of the studied taxa), and that more than half of invasion studies were conducted in North America. Martin et al. (2012) highlighted that countries with the highest Gross National Income (GNI) were overrepresented in their analysis of the global distribution and environmental context of terrestrial field studies.

One of the main issues driving the selection of target organisms in invasion research has been the magnitude of the ecological impacts and the level of invasiveness of each species (Pyšek et al., 2008). Weeds and pests tended to be more targeted by invasion studies mostly due to their economic impacts in agriculture and forestry (Wilson et al., 2007). In addition, a bias in the target geographic areas could be associated with research intensity inequality, since research investment is more strongly determined by economic priorities and practical limitations than by geographical and socio-political barriers (Pyšek et al., 2008; Wilson et al., 2007). Moreover, developed regions with large trade volumes will necessarily have the by-product of receiving more potentially invasive species (Pyšek et al., 2008). We are nevertheless aware that the geographic pattern of invasion literature captured in our search could be biased, as we exclusively focused on English keywords.

4.2. Modelling approaches in invasive species management

Although there has been a wide application of dynamic



Fig. 3. Temporal trends by classification analysed under Hypothesis 2.1: (a) Taxonomic focus, (b) Geographical Focus, and (c) Spatial extent. The upper row represents the proportion of records per year and the lower row represents absolute number of records per year (smoothing curves showing averages for 2-year time periods). Time periods highlighted in light grey are discussed in more detail in the text.

approaches in the field of ecological modelling (Jørgensen, 2008), our results show that dynamic modelling is still under-represented in invasion research (see Fig. 2). This could be due to the high data demand, complex model procedures and detailed parameterisation (Gregr and Chan, 2015) needed to understand, analyse, and forecast invasive species distribution and associated processes (Gallien et al., 2010). In our review, most studies using dynamic modelling approaches for invasion management focused on purely dynamic models (79.78%), whereas the remaining ones (20.22%) focused on hybrid models (i.e. combining static and dynamic approaches). Dynamic models were predominant until the beginning of the 2000s, with the first record in 1987 (Crawley, 1987). Since 2003, hybrid models began to be more frequently applied (Fig. 4a). This growth is consistent with the trend of general invasion modelling, which increasingly emphasises predictions of species distributions based on large-scale relationships, while simultaneously considering the most important dynamic processes (Gallien et al., 2010). Although a clear transition from purely dynamic to static-dynamic (i.e. hybrid) models was not observed, the results sustain our H2.2 sub-hypothesis, showing a growing application of hybrid modelling approaches in the management of invasive species.

Modelling passive or active management options, and choosing to incorporate (or not) management costs, may result in the selection of different modelling approaches, which may be purely dynamic or hybrid models and may or may not have a spatially explicit dimension (following Gallien et al., 2010). From our results, we could see that non-spatially explicit models (57.68%) generally outnumbered those that included a spatial component (42.31%). Although both categories increased in number over the last years, a more recent increase in spatially explicit models was observed (Fig. 4b). Concerning the type of management, both preventive actions (i.e. passive management) and post-establishment actions (i.e. active management) increased through time, with an overall predominance of the latter (57.04%; Fig. 4c). Similar trends were observed for cost evaluation, with a growing number of records published with and without cost evaluations (Fig. 4d), although only 27.76% of records presented an assessment of management costs. These results also support our H2.2 hypothesis, whereby the application of dynamic modelling for the management of invasive species has evolved over time.

Two groups of model attributes linked to invasion management were discriminated along the first principal components axis (PCA axis 1, Fig. 5). The first group comprised spatially explicit, hybrid static-dynamic models supporting passive management options and, to a lesser extent, with no evaluation of management costs (right-hand side of Fig. 5). This confirms that combining static and dynamic models enables spatially explicit modelling, as opposed to classical dynamic models that may not be spatially explicit (e.g. population dynamics models; Chen et al., 2011). Also, the fact that static approaches (such as HSMs) are particularly effective in spatially predicting invasions, may justify the relation between hybrid models and passive management options, for which predicting invasions is of primary importance for preventive invasion management (e.g. Vicente et al., 2016, 2013). The association with "no cost evaluation" is consistent with the fact that passive management options may not rely on a budget (see Dana et al., 2014 for similar results), as opposed to active management that entails costs. Studies in our database described hybrid models that coupled static HSMs with dynamic spread models (e.g. Gallardo et al., 2012; Harris et al., 2011; Pitt et al., 2009; Potts et al., 2014; Smolik et al., 2010). The dynamic component was generally a model able to represent spread dynamics, including interacting particle systems models (e.g. Inglis et al., 2006; Roura-Pascual et al., 2009; Smolik et al., 2010), cellular automata (e.g. Lu et al., 2013) or matrix models (e.g. Sebert-Cuvillier et al., 2008). HSMs may also be combined with models focused more broadly on population dynamics (namely growth, recruitment, reproduction), such as matrix models (e.g. Brown et al., 2008), density-dependent population models (e.g. Potts et al., 2014), cellular automata (e.g. Johnston and Purkis, 2013) or IBMs (e.g. Lurz et al., 2001).



Fig. 4. Temporal trends, by classification, analysed under Hypothesis 2.2: (a) Modelling framework, (b) Model spatially explicit, (c) Management type and (d) Cost evaluation. In each case, the plot on the right represents the absolute number of records per year (smoothing curves showing averages for 2-year time periods), while the plot on the left represents the proportion of records per year. Time periods discussed in more detail in the text are highlighted with a light grey shading.



Fig. 5. Principal Components Analysis (PCA) biplot, projecting the variables related to the categories of Cost evaluation, Type of management, Spatially explicit nature, and Modelling framework, onto the space defined by the two first principal components (PCA axis 1 and 2). Values in brackets refer to the amount of variance explained by PCA axis 1 and 2. The dashed lines enclose the two main groups of variables along PCA axis 1. For visualization purposes, variables were plotted as dots.

The second PCA group corresponds to non-spatially explicit, dynamic models applied to support active management and often associated with cost evaluation of management actions (left-hand side of Fig. 5). The ability of dynamic models to better mimic demographic processes, such as dispersal (Hastings et al., 2005) and growth (Jongejans et al., 2008), is of key importance for active control measures, since understanding population dynamics of invasive species is essential for undertaking a successful control program (Grarock et al., 2013). Studies in our database applied dynamic modelling to study population dynamics of invasive species, namely dispersal (e.g. Calviño-Cancela and Rubido-Bará, 2013; Havel et al., 2002), growth (e.g. Lindgren and Walker, 2012; McArthur et al., 2013; Nehrbass et al., 2006; Osunkoya et al., 2013) and recruitment (e.g. Calviño-Cancela and Rubido-Bará, 2013; Fordham et al., 2012; Murphy et al., 2008), as well as their relation to Allee effects (e.g. Boukal and Berec, 2009; Chivers and Leung, 2012; Drake and Lodge, 2006). The latter has received much attention (see Taylor and Hastings, 2005; Tobin et al., 2011) since non-native species are often subject to Allee dynamics. As such, efforts to reduce non-native populations below Allee thresholds can be an effective strategy to manage invasions (Tobin et al., 2011). Studies with dynamic modelling have also focused on species interactions, which is of high relevance e.g. to evaluate the effectiveness of biological control (e.g. Kriticos et al., 2009; Le Maitre et al., 2008; Tonnang et al., 2009).

Our review also highlighted that dynamic models allow the consideration of alternative cost and economic scenarios towards bioeconomics and the optimisation of management strategies (in line with Fig. 5). Several studies in our database applied stochastic dynamic modelling (e.g. Bertolucci et al., 2013; Eiswerth and Van Kooten, 2002; Hyder et al., 2008). This procedure allows the identification of optimal strategies by considering the possible changes in the states of a system over time (Baxter and Possingham, 2011). We also observed that while some studies considered cost-effectiveness of management strategies (e.g. Blackwood et al., 2010; Pichancourt et al., 2012), others incorporated damage costs in general environmental evaluations or in agricultural yields (e.g. Leung et al., 2002; Mehta et al., 2007; Wesseler and Fall 2010).

5. Further enhancing invasion modelling for research and management

Invasion biology has long focused on understanding invasion processes, scrutinising what makes an invasive species thrive (invasiveness) or what makes a habitat prone to invasion (invasibility; Hobbs and Richardson, 2010). Still, claims have been made for a more practical invasion science that can work with multiple stakeholders and academics, based on interactive solutions (Hobbs and Richardson, 2010; Hulme, 2003; Vaz et al., 2017a, 2017b). The importance of effectively tackling invasions raises the need to devise, test and implement management actions, supporting decision-makers and managers with the best management options. Dynamic modelling has the ability to mimic invasion processes and to predict invasions, allowing clear assumptions and extrapolation beyond known conditions while considering the effects of multiple management scenarios (Cuddington et al., 2013).

Dynamic models are usually applied at the scale that management actions take place (local or regional), but the success of invasion management can be influenced by regional and even global processes. Coupling a dynamic model with a static model in a hybrid framework allows the integration of multi-scale processes. including for e.g. biogeographic constraints (Cuddington et al., 2013). In addition, the integration of dynamic and static models offers the opportunity to include feedbacks by introducing multiway interactions between sub-models, supporting better predictions of the impacts caused by biological invasions (Gallien et al., 2010). However, there are still challenges to be tackled in future research on hybrid approaches. For instance, the assumptions underlying dynamic models are often based on expert knowledge, and unequivocally would benefit from being supported by observations or experiments (Gallien et al., 2010). In addition, data driven models suggest reliability as they are based on "real data", therefore, modelling such processes supports a mechanistic understanding (Dormann et al., 2012). Moreover, the adopted procedure in hybrid models must combine parameters compatible with both dynamic and static models, overcoming potential issues of circularity. For example, when HSMs implicitly and indirectly account for processes that are also explicitly considered in the dynamic model inducing the hybrid model to account for some processes twice (see Gallien et al., 2010). However, when properly developed and tested, they must be applied with insight and with regard to their underlying assumptions, enabling the understanding of whole-system processes such as resilience, resistance, persistence, regulation, and density dependence (Santos et al., 2013). This should also be applied at other scales, namely when individual or population properties are crucial to understand systemic phenomena (Santos et al., 2013), such as physiological traits of invaders (invasiveness) and effectiveness and costs of management actions (efficiency).

Our review showed that the application of dynamic modelling in the management of invasive species has evolved in recent years. This has probably been due to technical improvements, the increased availability of data and knowledge on invasive species, and the growing appraisal of this type of modelling approaches due to their ability to describe global change phenomena (Gallien et al., 2010). Hybrid models may well be a future stepping-stone towards improved spatial representation of model simulations under alternative management options, notwithstanding that, such hybrid approaches may eventually be dropped in favour of more sophisticated dynamic modelling approaches (Bastos et al., 2012). Predictions from purely dynamic models may be difficult to spatialize (see Fig. 5), but new platforms combining different approaches to investigate large-scale holistic relationships ("topdown"), while considering the most important processes ("bottomup"; e.g. Bastos et al., 2012; Santos et al., 2013; Soares-Filho et al., 2009), will foster spatially-explicit dynamic modelling in invasion biology (Santos et al., 2015). Likewise, the need to incorporate socio-economic dimensions to better optimise management strategies, describing cost and effectiveness of these strategies (Cuddington et al., 2013), will further empower dynamic approaches.

The pros and cons of dynamic modelling approaches in supporting management actions should be critically evaluated in future assessments. In fact, whether the modelling approaches reviewed here contribute to a better understanding and management of invasive species, compared to other conventional modelling types, is yet to be evaluated. Future research on invasion modelling and management should focus on understanding how uncertainties inherent to any modelling approach affect the success of management actions. When evaluating modelling options and outputs, researchers and managers always need to consider the quality of the input data. Relying on appropriate data and evaluating how well the models are calibrated and validated is of key importance to better inform management actions (Gregr and Chan, 2015; Jørgensen and Fath, 2011). We thus suggest that future developments and assessments on the choice of modelling techniques (see e.g. Jørgensen, 2008; Jørgensen and Fath, 2011) to improve invasion management should prioritize questions such as: (1) How does uncertainty in model input and output translate into management advice? (2) To what extent, and in which stage, has dynamic modelling research been applied to invasive species management programmes? (3) How much has the nature and quality of the supporting dataset influenced the method applied? (4) How does the origin of spatially-explicit dynamic models in biological invasions influence their architecture? and finally (5) How do multi-model frameworks (such as hybrid approaches) influence model architecture and thus management options?

Considering invasive species impacts when developing models will also contribute to improve their usefulness for management. From these impact-driven models, efficient monitoring and management strategies can be designed to prevent new invasions or restore ecosystems that have been affected by biological invasions (Vicente et al., 2016). A strong emphasis should be given to those dynamic modelling approaches that simultaneously attempt to capture the structure and the composition of systems affected by long-term environmental disturbances (Jørgensen, 1994), such as those induced by invasions. Finally, the strategic role of models and their predictions to effectively communicate conservation and management outcomes to stakeholders (Guisan et al., 2013) should be emphasised in the scope of adaptive invasion management in the broader context of natural resource governance.

6. Conclusions

We performed an extensive literature review to analyse the extent and the motivations under which dynamic modelling has been applied in the study of biological invasions and in support of management actions. From our literature review and discussion, we highlight four main emergent patterns:

- Ecological modelling, and specifically dynamic modelling, has been increasingly used in invasion science, for both research and management. This relates to the growing awareness among academics and stakeholders of the potential impacts of invasions, and the need to understand and predict invasion processes.
- Dynamic modelling has shown important advantages for design and evaluation of management actions, particularly at local scales. The ability of dynamic models to capture crucial processes, such as those related to population dynamics, is of key importance to plan and implement management actions for invasive species.
- Most dynamic modelling applications in invasion management focus on plants and invertebrates, in developed regions of the world. The taxonomical focus may be linked to greater impact on economic sectors such as agriculture and forestry, whereas the emphasis on developed countries may be connected to the higher development of their science and education systems and larger trading volumes, resulting in higher incidence of potentially invasive species.
- Static and dynamic models are complementary approaches that allow the assessment of large-scale patterns, while simultaneously considering the most important underlying dynamic processes. Such hybrid combinations of dynamic and static

models have been increasingly used and may be particularly relevant to support the management of early invasion stages, therefore, their further development and testing should be considered a research priority.

Finally, while emphasising the need to acquire a better knowledge of the modelling-management repertoire, we further highlight the difficulties inherent to literature reviews. Researchers often struggle when selecting keywords for published papers (see e.g. Davis et al., 2001), since the use of search engines for literature reviews strongly relies on representative keywords grounded on standardized vocabularies. It is thus crucial that, in the future, denominations are standardized (e.g. in keywords and abstract writing) to facilitate bibliographic reviews. In spite of this, our review clearly showed that dynamic modelling has played (and will continue to play) an important role in support of decision-making for efficient invasion management. This key role is particularly grounded on its ability to mimic invasion processes, integrating species demography and dispersal patterns, while considering cost-effectiveness and optimisation scenarios towards better management options.

Acknowledgments

J.R. Vicente was supported by national funds by Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT) through postdoctoral grant SFRH/BPD/84044/2012 and European funds through POPH-QREN. A.S. Vaz was supported by FSE/MEC and FCT under PhD grant PD/BD/52600/2014. J.P. Honrado received support from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement No 641762 (ECOPOTENTIAL). R. Bastos was funded by the FCT through the doctoral grant SFRH/BD/102428/ 2014. D. Alagador was funded by the COMPETE/FCT project PTDC/ AAG-GLO/3979/2014 (ref. 9471-RIDTI) and received a FCT postdoctoral grant, SFRH/BPD/104077/2014. J.A. Cabral and M. Santos received support from European Investment Funds by FEDER/ COMPETE/POCI- Operational Competitiveness and Internationalization Programme, under Project POCI-01-0145-FEDER-006958, National Funds by FCT, under the project UID/AGR/04033/2013 and INTERACT, Integrative Research in Environment, Agro-Chains and Technology, Project Norte FEDER - 2020 45/2015/02. We thank Sasha Vasconcelos for proof reading and three anonymous reviewers for the useful comments provided.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data related to this article can be found at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.03.060.

References

- Abdi, H., Williams, L.J., 2010. Principal component analysis. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Comput. Stat. 2, 433–459. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/wics.101.
- Alvera-Azcárate, A., Ferreira, J.G., Nunes, J.P., 2003. Modelling eutrophication in mesotidal and macrotidal estuaries. The role of intertidal seaweeds. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 57, 715–724. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0272-7714(02)00413-4.
- Ameden, H.A., Boxall, P.C., Cash, S.B., Vickers, D.A., 2009. An agent-based model of border enforcement for invasive species management. Can. J. Agric. Econo. Revue Can. D Agroecon. 57, 481–496.
- Amorim, F., Carvalho, S.B., Honrado, J., Rebelo, H., 2014. Designing optimized multispecies monitoring networks to detect range shifts driven by climate change: a case study with bats in the North of Portugal. PLOS ONE 9, e87291. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0087291.
- Bastos, R., Santos, M., Ramos, J.A., Vicente, J., Guerra, C., Alonso, J., Honrado, J., Ceia, R.S., Timóteo, S., Cabral, J.A., 2012. Testing a novel spatially-explicit dynamic modelling approach in the scope of the laurel forest management for the endangered Azores bullfinch (Pyrrhula murina) conservation. Biol. Conserv. 147, 243–254. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2012.01.009.

Baxter, P.W., Possingham, H.P., 2011. Optimizing search strategies for invasive pests:

learn before you leap. J. Appl. Ecol. 48, 86–95. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2010.01893.x.

- Bertolucci, L.H.B., Costa, E.F., Oliveira, V.A., Pereira, F.L., Karam, D., 2013. Herbicide dosage optimization model for weed control using the resistance dynamics. In: 2013 8th Eurosim Congress on Modelling and Simulation (Eurosim), pp. 220–225. http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/eurosim.2013.49.
- Blackwood, J., Hastings, A., Costello, C., 2010. Cost-effective management of invasive species using linear-quadratic control. Ecol. Econ. 69, 519–527. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2009.08.029.
- Boukal, D.S., Berec, L., 2009. Modelling mate-finding Allee effects and populations dynamics, with applications in pest control. Popul. Ecol. 51, 445–458. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10144-009-0154-4.
- Brook, B.W., Akçakaya, H.R., Keith, D.A., Mace, G.M., Pearson, R.G., Araújo, M.B., 2009. Integrating bioclimate with population models to improve forecasts of species extinctions under climate change. Biol. Lett. 5, 723–725. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2009.0480.
- Brown, K.A., Spector, S., Wu, W., 2008. Multi-scale analysis of species introductions: combining landscape and demographic models to improve management decisions about non-native species. J. Appl. Ecol. 45, 1639–1648. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1365-2664.2008.01550.x.
- Calviño-Cancela, M., Rubido-Bará, M., 2013. Invasive potential of Eucalyptus globulus: seed dispersal, seedling recruitment and survival in habitats surrounding plantations. For. Ecol. Manag. 305, 129–137. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ i.foreco.2013.05.037.
- Carvalho, S.B., Gonçalves, J., Guisan, A., Honrado, J.P., 2016. Systematic site selection for multispecies monitoring networks. J. Appl. Ecol. 53, 1305–1316. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12505.
- Chen, Q., Han, R., Ye, F., Li, W., 2011. Spatio-temporal ecological models. Ecol. Inf. 6, 37–43. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoinf.2010.07.006.
- Chivers, C., Leung, B., 2012. Predicting invasions: alternative models of humanmediated dispersal and interactions between dispersal network structure and Allee effects. J. Appl. Ecol. 49, 1113–1123. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2012.02183.x.
- Clinton, W.J., 1999. Invasive Species. Executive Office of the President. E.O. 13112 of Feb 3, 1999.
- Cook, W.C., 1924. The distribution of the pale western cutworm, porosagrotis orthogonia morr.: a study in physical ecology. Ecology 5, 60–69. http:// dx.doi.org/10.2307/1929165.
- Crawley, M.J., 1987. The population biology of invaders. Quantit. Asp. Ecol. Biol. Invasions 711–731.
- Crespo-Perez, V., Rebaudo, F., Silvain, J.-F., Dangles, O., 2011. Modeling invasive species spread in complex landscapes: the case of potato moth in Ecuador. Landsc. Ecol. 26, 1447–1461. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10980-011-9649-4.
- Cuddington, K., Fortin, M.J., Gerber, L.R., Hastings, A., Liebhold, A., O'Connor, M., Ray, C., 2013. Process-based models are required to manage ecological systems in a changing world. Ecosphere 4, 1–12. http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/ES12-00178.1.
- Dana, E.D., Jeschke, J.M., García-de-Lomas, J., 2014. Decision tools for managing biological invasions: existing biases and future needs. Oryx 48, 56–63. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0030605312001263.
- Davis, M.A., 2006. Invasion biology 1958-2005: the pursuit of science and conservation. In: Cadotte, M.W., McMahon, S.M., Fukami, T. (Eds.), Conceptual Ecology and Invasion Biology: Reciprocal Approaches to Nature. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 35–64. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/1-4020-4925-0_3.
- Davis, M.A., Thompson, K., Grime, J.P., 2001. Charles S. Elton and the dissociation of invasion ecology from the rest of ecology. Divers. Distrib. 7, 97–102. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1472-4642.2001.00099.x.
- Dormann, C.F., Schymanski, S.J., Cabral, J., Chuine, I., Graham, C., Hartig, F., Kearney, M., Morin, X., Römermann, C., Schröder, B., Singer, A., 2012. Correlation and process in species distribution models: bridging a dichotomy. J. Biogeogr. 39, 2119–2131. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2011.02659.x.
- Drake, J.M., Lodge, D.M., 2006. Allee effects, propagule pressure and the probability of establishment: risk analysis for biological invasions. Biol. Invasions 8, 365–375. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10530-004-8122-6.
- Edwards, K.R., Adams, M.S., Kvet, J., 1998. Differences between European native and american invasive populations of lythrum salicaria. Appl. Veg. Sci. 1, 267–280. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/1478957.
- EEA, 1998. Environment in the European Union at the Turn of the Century. European Environment Agency (EEA).
- Eiswerth, M.E., Van Kooten, G.C., 2002. Uncertainty, economics, and the spread of an invasive plant species. Am. J. Agric. Econ. 84, 1317–1322.
- Elton, C.S., 1958. The Ecology of Invasions by Animals and Plants. Methuen, London. Estevez, R.A., Anderson, C.B., Pizarro, J.C., Burgman, M.A., 2015. Clarifying values, risk perceptions, and attitudes to resolve or avoid social conflicts in invasive species management. Conserv. Biol. 29, 19–30. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ cobi.12359.
- Falagas, M.E., Pitsouni, E.I., Malietzis, G.A., Pappas, G., 2008. Comparison of PubMed, scopus, Web of science, and Google scholar: strengths and weaknesses. FASEB J. 22, 338–342. http://dx.doi.org/10.1096/fj.07-9492LSF.
- Fei, S.L., Phillips, J., Shouse, M., 2014. Biogeomorphic impacts of invasive species. In: Futuyma, D.J. (Ed.), Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, vol. 45. Annual Reviews, Palo Alto, p. 69. http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-120213-091928.
- Fordham, D.A., Sinclair, R.G., Peacock, D.E., Mutze, G.J., Kovaliski, J., Cassey, P., Capucci, L, Brook, B.W., 2012. European rabbit survival and recruitment are linked to epidemiological and environmental conditions in their exotic range.

Austral Ecol. 37, 945–957. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-9993.2011.02354.x.

- Franklin, J., 2010. Moving beyond static species distribution models in support of conservation biogeography. Divers. Distrib. 16, 321–330. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1472-4642.2010.00641.x. Gaertner, M., Biggs, R., Te Beest, M., Hui, C., Molofsky, J., Richardson, D.M., 2014.
- Gaertner, M., Biggs, R., Te Beest, M., Hui, C., Molorsky, J., Kichardson, D.M., 2014. Invasive plants as drivers of regime shifts: identifying high-priority invaders that alter feedback relationships. Divers. Distrib. 20, 733–744. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1111/ddi.12182.
- Gallardo, B., Errea, M.P., Aldridge, D.C., 2012. Application of bioclimatic models coupled with network analysis for risk assessment of the killer shrimp, Dikerogammarus villosus, in Great Britain. Biol. Invasions 14, 1265–1278. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10530-011-0154-0.
- Gallien, L., Münkemüller, T., Albert, C.H., Boulangeat, I., Thuiller, W., 2010. Predicting potential distributions of invasive species: where to go from here? Divers. Distrib. 16, 331–342. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2010.00652.x.
- Grarock, K., Lindenmayer, D.B., Wood, J.T., Tidemann, C.R., 2013. Using invasion process theory to enhance the understanding and management of introduced species: a case study reconstructing the invasion sequence of the common myna (Acridotheres tristis). J. Environ. Manag. 129, 398–409. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jenvman.2013.08.005.
- Gregr, E.J., Chan, K.M.A., 2015. Leaps of faith: how implicit assumptions compromise the utility of ecosystem models for decision-making. BioScience 65, 43–54. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biu185.
- Guisan, A., Thuiller, W., 2005. Predicting species distribution: offering more than simple habitat models. Ecol. Lett. 8, 993–1009. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00792.x.
- Guisan, A., Tingley, R., Baumgartner, J.B., Naujokaitis-Lewis, I., Sutcliffe, P.R., Tulloch, A.I.T., Regan, T.J., Brotons, L., McDonald-Madden, E., Mantyka-Pringle, C., Martin, T.G., Rhodes, J.R., Maggini, R., Setterfield, S.A., Elith, J., Schwartz, M.W., Wintle, B.A., Broennimann, O., Austin, M., Ferrier, S., Kearney, M.R., Possingham, H.P., Buckley, Y.M., 2013. Predicting species distributions for conservation decisions. Ecol. Lett. 16, 1424–1435. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1111/ele.12189.
- Guisan, A., Zimmermann, N.E., 2000. Predictive habitat distribution models in ecology. Ecol. Model. 135, 147–186. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3800(00) 00354-9.
- Hannon, B., Ruth, M., 2014. Modeling Dynamic Biological Systems, Modeling Dynamic Biological Systems. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 3–28. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-05615-9_1.
- Harris, C.M., Stanford, H.L., Edwards, C., Travis, J.M.J., Park, K.J., 2011. Integrating demographic data and a mechanistic dispersal model to predict invasion spread of Rhododendron ponticum in different habitats. Ecol. Inf. 6, 187–195. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoinf.2011.03.004.
- Hastings, A., Cuddington, K., Davies, K.F., Dugaw, C.J., Elmendorf, S., Freestone, A., Harrison, S., Holland, M., Lambrinos, J., Malvadkar, U., Melbourne, B.A., Moore, K., Taylor, C., Thomson, D., 2005. The spatial spread of invasions: new developments in theory and evidence. Ecol. Lett. 8, 91–101. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2004.00687.x.
- Havel, J.E., Shurin, J.B., Jones, J.R., 2002. Estimating dispersal from patterns of spread: spatial and local control of lake invasions. Ecology 83, 3306–3318. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/3072081.
- Higgins, J.P.T., Green, S., 2011. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. Version 5.1.0 [updated March 2011] The Cochrane Collaboration. Available at: www.handbook.cochrane.org.
- Higgins, S.I., Azorin, E.J., Cowling, R.M., Morris, M.J., 1997. A dynamic ecologicaleconomic model as a tool for conflict resolution in an invasive-alien-plant, biological control and native-plant scenario. Ecol. Econ. 22, 141–154. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/s0921-8009(97)00574-0.
- Hinojosa, M.B., Carreira, J.A., Rodríguez-Maroto, J.M., García-Ruíz, R., 2008. Effects of pyrite sludge pollution on soil enzyme activities: ecological dose-response model. Sci. Total Environ. 396, 89–99. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.scitotenv.2008.02.014.
- Hobbs, R.J., Richardson, D.M., 2010. Invasion Ecology and Restoration Ecology: Parallel Evolution in Two Fields of Endeavour, Fifty Years of Invasion Ecology. Wiley-Blackwell, pp. 61–69. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/9781444329988.ch6.
- Hulme, P.E., 2003. Biological invasions: winning the science battles but losing the conservation war? Oryx 37, 178–193. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S003060530300036X.
- Hulme, P.E., 2006. Beyond control: wider implications for the management of biological invasions. J. Appl. Ecol. 43, 835–847. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2006.01227.x.
- Humair, F., Humair, L., Kuhn, F., Kueffer, C., 2015. E-commerce trade in invasive plants. Conserv. Biol. 29, 1658–1665. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12579.
- Hyder, A., Leung, B., Miao, Z., 2008. Integrating data, biology, and decision models for invasive species management: application to leafy spurge (Euphorbia esula). Ecol. Soc. 13.
- Inglis, G.J., Hurren, H., Oldman, J., Haskew, R., 2006. Using habitat suitability index and particle dispersion models for early detection of marine invaders. Ecol. Appl. 16, 1377–1390.
- IUCN, 2000. Guidelines for the prevention of biodiversity loss caused by alien invasive species. In: Approved by the 51st Meeting of the IUCN Council, Gland, Switzerland.
- Johnston, M.W., Purkis, S.J., 2013. Modeling the potential spread of the recently identified non-native panther grouper (Chromileptes altivelis) in the Atlantic using a cellular automaton approach. PLoS ONE 8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0073023.

- Jongejans, E., Skarpaas, O., Shea, K., 2008. Dispersal, demography and spatial population models for conservation and control management. Perspect. Plant Ecol. Evol. Syst. 9, 153–170. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ppees.2007.09.005.
- Jørgensen, S.E., 1994. Models as instruments for combination of ecological theory and environmental practice. Ecol. Model. 75, 5–20. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ 0304-3800(94)90003-5.
- Jørgensen, S.E., 2008. Overview of the model types available for development of ecological models. Ecol. Model. 215, 3–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ i.ecolmodel.2008.02.041.
- Jørgensen, S.E., Bendoricchio, G., 2001. Chapter 1 introduction. In: Jørgensen, S.E., Bendoricchio, G. (Eds.), Developments in Environmental Modelling. Elsevier, pp. 1–17. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8892(01)80003-8.
- Jørgensen, S.E., Fath, B.D., 2011. Fundamentals of Ecological Modelling, fourth ed. Elsevier.
- Keller, R.P., Drake, J.M., Drew, M., Lodge, D.M., 2011. Linking environmental conditions and ship movements to estimate invasive species transport across the global shipping network. Divers Distrib. 17.
- Kriticos, D.J., Brown, J.R., Maywald, G.F., Radford, I.D., Nicholas, D.M., Sutherst, R.W., Adkins, S.W., 2003. SPAnDX: a process-based population dynamics model to explore management and climate change impacts on an invasive alien plant, Acacia nilotica. Ecol. Model. 163, 187–208. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/s0304-3800(03)00009-7.
- Kriticos, D.J., Watt, M.S., Withers, T.M., Leriche, A., Watson, M.C., 2009. A processbased population dynamics model to explore target and non-target impacts of a biological control agent. Ecol. Model. 220, 2035–2050. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2009.04.039.
- Kueffer, C., Pyšek, P., Richardson, D.M., 2013. Integrative invasion science: model systems, multi-site studies, focused meta-analysis and invasion syndromes. New Phytol. 200, 615–633. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/nph.12415.
- Lampo, M., De Leo, G.A., 1998. The invasion ecology of the toad Bufo marinus: from South America to Australia. Ecol. Appl. 8, 388–396. http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/ 1051-0761(1998)008[0388:tieott]2.0.co;2.
- Le Maitre, D.C., Krug, R.M., Hoffmann, J.H., Gordon, A.J., Mgidi, T.N., 2008. Hakea sericea: development of a model of the impacts of biological control on population dynamics and rates of spread of an invasive species. Ecol. Model. 212, 342–358. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2007.11.011. Legendre, P., Legendre, L., 1998. Chapter 9-Ordination in reduced space. In: Pierre, L.,
- Legendre, P., Legendre, L., 1998. Chapter 9-Ordination in reduced space. In: Pierre, L., Louis, L. (Eds.), Developments in Environmental Modelling. Elsevier, pp. 387–480. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8892(98)80061-4.
- Leung, B., Lodge, D.M., Finnoff, D., Shogren, J.F., Lewis, M.A., Lamberti, G., 2002. An ounce of prevention or a pound of cure: bioeconomic risk analysis of invasive species. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 269, 2407–2413. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/ rspb.2002.2179.
- Lindgren, C.J., Walker, D., 2012. Growth rate, seed production, and assessing the spatial risk of Lythrum salicaria using growing degree-days. Wetlands 32, 885–893. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s13157-012-0319-3.
- Lockwood, J.L., Hoopes, M.F., Marchetti, M.P., 2013. Invasion Ecology, second ed. Wiley-Blackwell.
- Lowry, E., Rollinson, E.J., Laybourn, A.J., Scott, T.E., Aiello-Lammens, M.E., Gray, S.M., Mickley, J., Gurevitch, J., 2013. Biological invasions: a field synopsis, systematic review, and database of the literature. Ecol. Evol. 3, 182–196. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1002/ece3.431.
- Lu, M.L., Huang, J.Y., Chung, Y.L., Huang, C.Y., 2013. Modelling the invasion of a central american mimosoid tree species (leucaena leucocephala) in a tropical coastal region of Taiwan. Remote Sens. Lett. 4, 485–493. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1080/2150704X.2012.755274.
- Lurz, P.W.W., Rushton, S.P., Wauters, L.A., Bertolino, S., Currado, I., Mazzoglio, P., Shirley, M.D.F., 2001. Predicting grey squirrel expansion in North Italy: a spatially explicit modelling approach. Landsc. Ecol. 16, 407–420. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1023/A:1017508711713.
- Macisaac, H.J., Tedla, R.A., Ricciardi, A., 2010. Patterns and Rate of Growth of Studies in Invasion Ecology, Fifty Years of Invasion Ecology. Wiley-Blackwell, pp. 49–60. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/9781444329988.ch5.
- Marchi, M., Jørgensen, S.E., Bécares, E., Corsi, I., Marchettini, N., Bastianoni, S., 2011. Resistance and re-organization of an ecosystem in response to biological invasion: some hypotheses. Ecol. Model. 222, 2992–3001. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2011.04.017.
- Martin, L.J., Blossey, B., Ellis, E., 2012. Mapping where ecologists work: biases in the global distribution of terrestrial ecological observations. Front. Ecol. Environ. 10, 195–201. http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/110154.
- McArthur, L., Dunn, J., Schreider, S., 2013. Modelling the spread and growth of Caulerpa taxifolia in closed waterways in southern Australia using cellular automata. In: 20th International Congress on Modelling and Simulation (Modsim2013), pp. 427–433.
- McNeely, J.A., 2001. The Great Reshuffling: Human Dimensions of Invasive Alien Species. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland and Cambridge, UK. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ j.1472-4642.2001.118-3.x.
- Mehta, S.V., Haight, R.G., Homans, F.R., Polasky, S., Venette, R.C., 2007. Optimal detection and control strategies for invasive species management. Ecol. Econ. 61, 237–245. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2006.10.024.
- Meier, E.S., Dullinger, S., Zimmermann, N.E., Baumgartner, D., Gattringer, A., Hülber, K., 2014. Space matters when defining effective management for invasive plants. Divers. Distrib. 20, 1029–1043. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ ddi.12201.
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005. Ecosystems and Human Well-being:

Synthesis. Island, Washington, DC.

- Miller, C., Urban, D.L., 2000. Modeling the effects of fire management alternatives on Sierra Nevada mixed-conifer forests. Ecol. Appl. 10, 85–94. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1890/1051-0761(2000)010[0085:MTEOFM]2.0.CO;2.
- Morrison, L.W., Porter, S.D., Daniels, E., Korzukhin, M.D., 2004. Potential global range expansion of the invasive fire ant, Solenopsis invicta. Biol. Invasions 6, 183–191. http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/b:binv.0000022135.96042.90.
- Murphy, H.T., Hardesty, B.D., Fletcher, C.S., Metcalfe, D.J., Westcott, D.A., Brooks, S.J., 2008. Predicting dispersal and recruitment of Miconia calvescens (Melastomataceae) in Australian tropical rainforests. Biol. Invasions 10, 925–936. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10530-008-9246-x.
- National Research Council, 2002. Predicting Invasions of Nonindigenous Plants and Plant Pests. National Academies Press.
- Nehrbass, N., Winkler, E., 2007. Is the Giant Hogweed still a threat? An individualbased modelling approach for local invasion dynamics of Heracleum mantegazzianum. Ecol. Model. 201, 377–384. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.ecolmodel.2006.10.004.
- Nehrbass, N., Winkler, E., Pergl, J., Perglová, I., Pyšek, P., 2006. Empirical and virtual investigation of the population dynamics of an alien plant under the constraints of local carrying capacity: Heracleum mantegazzianum in the Czech Republic. Perspect. Plant Ecol. Evol. Syst. 7, 253–262. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.ppees.2005.11.001.
- Neubert, M.G., Caswell, H., 2000. Demography and dispersal: calculation and sensitivity analysis of invasion speed for structured populations. Ecology 81, 1613–1628. http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2000)081[1613:DADCAS] 2.0.CO;2.
- Osunkoya, O.O., Perrett, C., Fernando, C., Clark, C., Raghu, S., 2013. Modeling population growth and site specific control of the invasive Lantana camara L. (Verbenaceae) under differing fire regimes. Popul. Ecol. 55, 291–303. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10144-013-0364-7.
- Peterson, A.T., Papes, M., Kluza, D.A., 2003. Predicting the potential invasive distributions of four alien plant species in North America. Weed Sci. 51, 863–868. http://dx.doi.org/10.1614/P2002-081.
- Peterson, A.T., Stewart, A., Mohamed, K.I., Araújo, M.B., 2008. Shifting global invasive potential of european plants with climate change. PLOS ONE 3, e2441. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0002441.
- Petrovskii, S.V., Malchow, H., Hilker, F.M., Venturino, E., 2005. Patterns of patchy spread in deterministic and stochastic models of biological invasion and biological control. Biol. Invasions 7, 771–793. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10530-005-5217-7.
- Pichancourt, J.B., Chadès, I., Firn, J., van Klinken, R.D., Martin, T.G., 2012. Simple rules to contain an invasive species with a complex life cycle and high dispersal capacity. J. Appl. Ecol. 49, 52–62. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2011.02093.x.
- Pitt, J.P.W., Worner, S.P., Suarez, A.V., 2009. Predicting Argentine ant spread over the heterogeneous landscape using a spatially explicit stochastic model. Ecol. Appl. 19, 1176–1186. http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/08-1777.1.
- Potts, J.M., Beeton, N.J., Bowman, D.M.J.S., Williamson, G.J., Lefroy, E.C., Johnson, C.N., 2014. Predicting the future range and abundance of fallow deer in Tasmania, Australia. Wildl. Res. 41, 633–640. http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/ WR13206.
- Pyšek, P., Richardson, D.M., 2010. Invasive species, environmental change and management, and health. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 35, 25–55. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-033009-095548.
- Pyšek, P., Richardson, D.M., Pergl, J., Jarosik, V., Sixtova, Z., Weber, E., 2008. Geographical and taxonomic biases in invasion ecology. Trends Ecol. Evol. 23, 237–244. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2008.02.002.
- Ricciardi, A., MacIsaac, H.J., 2008. In Retrospect: the book that began invasion ecology. Nature 452, 34–34.
- Richardson, D.M., Iponga, D.M., Roura-Pascual, N., Krug, R.M., Milton, S.J., Hughes, G.O., Thuiller, W., 2010. Accommodating scenarios of climate change and management in modelling the distribution of the invasive tree Schinus molle in South Africa. Ecography 33, 1049–1061. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ j.1600-0587.2010.06350.x.
- Richardson, D.M., Pyšek, P., 2008. Fifty years of invasion ecology the legacy of Charles Elton. Divers. Distrib. 14, 161–168. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2007.00464.x.
- Richardson, D.M., Whittaker, R.J., 2010. Conservation biogeography foundations, concepts and challenges. Divers. Distrib. 16, 313–320. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ j.1472-4642.2010.00660.x.
- Rotherham, I.D., Lambert, R.A., 2012. Invasive and Introduced Plants and Animals: Human Perceptions, Attitudes and Approaches to Management. Routledge.
- Rouget, M., Richardson, D.M., Nel, J.L., Le Maitre, D.C., Egoh, B., Mgidi, T., 2004. Mapping the potential ranges of major plant invaders in South Africa, Lesotho and Swaziland using climatic suitability. Divers. Distrib. 10, 475–484. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1366-9516.2004.00118.x.
- Roura-Pascual, N., Bas, J.M., Thuiller, W., Hui, C., Krug, R.M., Brotons, L., 2009. From introduction to equilibrium: reconstructing the invasive pathways of the Argentine ant in a Mediterranean region. Glob. Change Biol. 15, 2101–2115. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.01907.x.
- Ruiz, G.M., Fofonoff, P.W., Carlton, J.T., Wonham, M.J., Hines, A.H., 2000. Invasion of coastal marine communities in North America: apparent patterns, processes, and biases. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 31, 481–531.
- Santos, M., Bastos, R., Cabral, J.A., 2013. Converting conventional ecological datasets in dynamic and dynamic spatially explicit simulations: current advances and future applications of the Stochastic Dynamic Methodology (StDM). Ecol.

Model. 258, 91-100. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2013.02.028.

- Santos, M., Bastos, R., Vicente, J., Berger, U., Silveira Soares Filho, B., Rodrigues, H., Alonso, J., Guerra, C., Martins, J., Honrado, J., Cabral João, A., 2015. Anticipating invasions and managing impacts: a review of recent spatiotemporal modelling approaches. In: Canning-Clode, J. (Ed.), Biological Invasions in Changing Ecosystems. Vectors, Ecological Impacts, Management and Predictions, pp. 389–410. http://dx.doi.org/10.1515/9783110438666-024.
- Santos, M., Cabral, J.A., 2004. Development of a stochastic dynamic model for ecological indicators' prediction in changed Mediterranean agroecosystems of north-eastern Portugal. Ecol. Indic. 3, 285–303. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.ecolind.2003.11.007.
- Schneider, D.W., Ellis, C.D., Cummings, K.S., 1998. A transportation model assessment of the risk to native mussel communities from zebra mussel spread. Conserv. Biol. 12, 788–800. http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1998.97042.x.
- Sebert-Cuvillier, E., Simon-Goyheneche, V., Paccaut, F., Chabrerie, O., Goubet, O., Decocq, G., 2008. Spatial spread of an alien tree species in a heterogeneous forest landscape: a spatially realistic simulation model. Landsc. Ecol. 23, 787–801. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10980-008-9237-4.
- Sharov, A.A., Liebhold, A.M., 1998. Model of slowing the spread of gypsy moth (Lepidoptera: Lymantriidae) with a barrier zone. Ecol. Appl. 8, 1170–1179. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2640970.
- Sharov, A.A., Liebhold, A.M., Roberts, A.E., 1998. Optimizing the use of barrier zones to slow the spread of gypsy moth (Lepidoptera: Lymantriidae) in North America. J. Econ. Entomol. 91, 165–174. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jee/91.1.165.
- Shigesada, N., Kawasaki, K., 1997. Biological Invasions: Theory and Practice, first ed. Oxford University Press.
- Shine, C., Kettunen, M., Genovesi, P., Essl, F., Gollasch, S., Rabitsch, W., Scalera, R., Starfinger, U., ten Brink, P., 2010. Assessment to Support Continued Development of the EU Strategy to Combat Invasive Alien Species. Final Report for the European Commission. Institute for European Environmental Policy (IEEP), Brussels, Belgium.
- Simberloff, D., 2010. Charles Elton: Neither Founder Nor Siren, but Prophet, Fifty Years of Invasion Ecology. Wiley-Blackwell, pp. 11–24. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1002/9781444329988.ch2.
- Simberloff, D., Martin, J.-L., Genovesi, P., Maris, V., Wardle, D.A., Aronson, J., Courchamp, F., Galil, B., Garcia-Berthou, E., Pascal, M., Pyšek, P., Sousa, R., Tabacchi, E., Vila, M., 2013. Impacts of biological invasions: what's what and the way forward. Trends Ecol. Evol. 28, 58–66. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2012.07.013.
- Skellam, J.G., 1951. Random dispersal in theoretical populations. Biometrika 38, 196–218. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2332328.
- Smolik, M.G., Dullinger, S., Essl, F., Kleinbauer, I., Leitner, M., Peterseil, J., Stadler, L.M., Vogl, G., 2010. Integrating species distribution models and interacting particle systems to predict the spread of an invasive alien plant. J. Biogeogr. 37, 411–422. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2009.02227.x.
- Soares-Filho, B.S., Rodrigues, H.O., Costa, W., 2009. Modeling environmental dynamics with Dinamica EGO. Centro de Sensoriamento Remoto. Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Minas Gerais, 115.
- Soetaert, K., Middelburg, J.J., Herman, P.M.J., Buis, K., 2000. On the coupling of benthic and pelagic biogeochemical models. Earth-Sci. Rev. 51, 173–201. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0012-8252(00)00004-0.
- StatCorp, 2013. Stata Statistical Software: Release 13. StataCorp LP, College Station, TX.
- Sutherst, R.W., 2014. Pest species distribution modelling: origins and lessons from history. Biol. Invasions 16, 239–256. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10530-013-0523-y.
- Tassin, J., Kull, C.A., 2015. Facing the broader dimensions of biological invasions. Land Use Policy 42, 165–169. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2014.07.014.
- Taylor, C.M., Hastings, A., 2005. Allee effects in biological invasions. Ecol. Lett. 8, 895–908. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00787.x.
- Theoharides, K.A., Dukes, J.S., 2007. Plant invasion across space and time: factors affecting nonindigenous species success during four stages of invasion. New Phytol. 176, 256–273. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2007.02207.x.
- Thomson Reuters, 2013. EndNote. Version x7. New York. Software available at: http://endnote.com/product-details/X7.
- Thuiller, W., Albert, C., Araújo, M.B., Berry, P.M., Cabeza, M., Guisan, A., Hickler, T., Midgley, G.F., Paterson, J., Schurr, F.M., Sykes, M.T., Zimmermann, N.E., 2008. Predicting global change impacts on plant species' distributions: future challenges. Perspect. Plant Ecol. Evol. Syst. 9, 137–152. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.ppees.2007.09.004.
- Tobin, P.C., Berec, L., Liebhold, A.M., 2011. Exploiting Allee effects for managing biological invasions. Ecol. Lett. 14, 615–624. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01614.x.
- Tonnang, H.E.Z., Nedorezov, L.V., Ochanda, H., Owino, J., Löhr, B., 2009. Assessing the impact of biological control of Plutella xylostella through the application of Lotka-Volterra model. Ecol. Model. 220, 60–70. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.ecolmodel.2008.09.002.
- Vaz, A.S., Kueffer, C., Kull, C.A., Richardson, D.M., Vicente, J.R., Kühn, I., Schröter, M., Hauck, J., Bonn, A., Honrado, J.P., 2017a. Integrating ecosystem services and disservices: insights from plant invasions. Ecosyst. Serv. 23, 94–107. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2016.11.017.
- Vaz, A.S., Kueffer, C., Kull, C.A., Richardson, D.M., Schindler, S., Muñoz-Pajares, A.J., Vicente, J.R., Martins, J., Hui, C., Kühn, I., Honrado, J.P., 2017b. The progress of interdisciplinarity in invasion science. Ambio 15. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ s13280-017-0897-7.
- Vicente, J., Alves, P., Randin, C., Guisan, A., Honrado, J., 2010. What drives

invasibility? A multi-model inference test and spatial modelling of alien plant species richness patterns in northern Portugal. Ecography 33, 1081–1092. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2010.6380.x.

- Vicente, J.R., Alagador, D., Guerra, C., Alonso, J.M., Kueffer, C., Vaz, A.S., Fernandes, R.F., Cabral, J.A., Araújo, M.B., Honrado, J.P., 2016. Cost-effective monitoring of biological invasions under global change: a model-based framework. J. Appl. Ecol. 53, 1317–1329. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12631.
- Vicente, J.R., Fernandes, R.F., Randin, C.F., Broennimann, O., Goncalves, J., Marcos, B., Pocas, I., Alves, P., Guisan, A., Honrado, J.P., 2013. Will climate change drive alien invasive plants into areas of high protection value? An improved model-based regional assessment to prioritise the management of invasions. J. Environ. Manag, 131, 185–195. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2013.09.032.

Wadsworth, R.A., Collingham, Y.C., Willis, S.G., Huntley, B., Hulme, P.E., 2000.

Simulating the spread and management of alien riparian weeds: are they out of control? J. Appl. Ecol. 37, 28–38. http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2664.2000.00551.x.

- Wesseler, J., Fall, E.H., 2010. Potential damage costs of Diabrotica virgifera virgifera infestation in Europe - the 'no control' scenario. J. Appl. Entomol. 134, 385–394. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0418.2010.01510.x.
- Wilson, J.R.U., Proches, S., Braschler, B., Dixon, E.S., Richardson, D.M., 2007. The (bio) diversity of science reflects the interests of society. Front. Ecol. Environ. 5, 409–414. http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/060077.1.
- Zurell, D., Thuiller, W., Pagel, J., Cabral, J.S., Münkemüller, T., Gravel, D., Dullinger, S., Normand, S., Schiffers, K.H., Moore, K.A., Zimmermann, N.E., 2016. Benchmarking novel approaches for modelling species range dynamics. Glob. Change Biol. 22, 2651–2664. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13251.